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Lindell Tate appeals from his judgment of sentence, entered in the
Court of Common Pleas of Bucks County, following Tate’s convictions for
robbery - threat of immediate serious injury,’ receiving stolen property,?
4

firearms not to be carried without a license,® possession of a weapon,

recklessly endangering another person,’ theft by unlawful taking - movable

* Retired Senior Judge assigned to the Superior Court.
' 18 Pa.C.S. § 3701(a)(1)(ii).

18 Pa.C.S. § 3925(a).

318 Pa.C.S. § 6106(a).

18 Pa.C.S. § 907(b).

> 18 Pa.C.S. § 2705.
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property,® and persons not to possess, use, manufacture, control, sell or
transfer firearms.” Tate’s counsel also moves to withdraw pursuant to the
dictates of Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), Commonwealth v.
McClendon, 434 A.2d 1185 (Pa. 1981), and Commonwealth v. Santiago,
978 A.2d 349 (Pa. 2009). Upon review, we affirm Tate's judgment of
sentence based on the opinion of the Honorable Clyde W. Waite, and grant
counsel’s petition to withdraw.

On January 29, 2011, at approximately 6:05 p.m., Tate entered a 7-
Eleven store at Street Road and Windsor Street in Bensalem Township,
Bucks County. Tate pointed a handgun at the store clerk and demanded
money and cigarettes. The clerk gave Tate cigarettes and $635.00 in cash.
Tate then fled to the Dunkin’ Donuts across the street. Meanwhile, the store
clerk and another 7-Eleven employee called 911. The call resulted in a
police radio dispatch describing Tate and stating that he had run across
Street Road to a Dunkin’ Donuts store.

Officer Steven Bailey of the Bensalem Township Police responded to
the call along with three other officers. They entered the Dunkin’ Donuts
where they saw a man matching Tate’s description go into the bathroom.

Officer Bailey requested three times that Tate come out. Tate ignored these

©18 Pa.C.S. § 3921(a).

718 Pa.C.S. § 6105(a)(1).
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requests, and Officer Bailey entered the bathroom. Officer Bailey confronted
Tate in the bathroom and again asked him to leave, however, Tate refused.
The other officers then entered the bathroom, and following a brief struggle,
they detained and arrested Tate.

At the time of his arrest, Tate had $615.00 on his person.
Investigation revealed that Tate purchased a cup of Dunkin’ Donuts coffee
using a $20 bill he had stolen from 7-Eleven. A search of the bathroom
revealed a black nine-millimeter Taurus handgun in the wastebasket. Later
testing of the weapon revealed it was covered in DNA matching Tate’s.

Following his arrest, Bensalem Township Detective David Nieves
interviewed Tate. After obtaining identifying information, Detective Nieves
read Tate his Miranda® warnings and Tate read and signed a card with the
warnings, indicating he understood each one. After first denying guilt, Tate
confessed to robbing the 7-Eleven. Tate later testified at the suppression
hearing that he was high during his interview; however, Detective Nieves
testified that Tate appeared normal, coherent, and understanding.

On August 19, 2011, Tate filed an omnibus pre-trial motion seeking to
suppress all evidence obtained subsequent to his arrest. Following a

suppression hearing on August 30, 2011, the court concluded that the police

8 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).
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had sufficient probable cause to arrest Tate immediately after the robbery
and denied his pre-trial motion.

On March 6, 2012, a one-day stipulated waiver trial occurred. At the
conclusion of trial, the court found Tate guilty on all counts. Sentencing was
deferred until May 3, 2012, at which the time the court sentenced Tate to an
aggregate term of 72 to 17 years’ incarceration.

Tate filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence on May 7, 2012,
which was denied by operation of law. On December 2, 2013, following
reinstatement of his right to appeal nunc pro tunc, Tate filed the instant
appeal.

As noted above, counsel has filed an Anders brief and a corresponding
petition to withdraw as counsel. “When faced with a purported Anders
brief, this Court may not review the merits of the underlying issues without
first passing on the request to withdraw.” Commonwealth v. Rojas, 874
A.2d 638, 639 (Pa. Super. 2005). Furthermore, counsel must follow certain
mandates when seeking to withdraw pursuant to Anders, McClendon, and
Santiago. These mandates are not overly burdensome and have been
summarized as follows:

Direct appeal counsel seeking to withdraw under Anders must

file a petition averring that, after a conscientious examination of

the record, counsel finds the appeal to be wholly frivolous.

Counsel must also file an Anders brief setting forth issues that

might arguably support the appeal along with any other issues
necessary for the effective appellate presentation thereof.

Anders counsel must also provide a copy of the Anders petition
and brief to the appellant, advising the appellant of the right to

-4 -
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retain new counsel, proceed pro se or raise any additional points
worthy of this Court’s attention.

If counsel does not fulfill the aforesaid technical requirements of
Anders, this Court will deny the petition to withdraw and
remand the case with appropriate instructions (e.g., directing
counsel either to comply with Anders or file an advocate’s brief
on Appellant’s behalf).

Commonwealth v. Woods, 939 A.2d 896, 898 (Pa. Super. 2007) (citations
omitted).
Moreover, the Anders brief that accompanies counsel’s petition to
withdraw must:
(1) provide a summary of the procedural history and facts, with
citations to the record; (2) refer to anything in the record that
counsel believes arguably supports the appeal; (3) set forth
counsel’s conclusion that the appeal is frivolous; and (4) state
counsel’s reasons for concluding that the appeal is frivolous.
Counsel should articulate the relevant facts of record, controlling

case law, and/or statutes on point that have led to the
conclusion that the appeal is frivolous.

Santiago, 978 A.2d at 361.

Here, counsel filed a petition averring that, upon a thorough
examination of the record, he finds the appeal to be wholly frivolous, and
states his reasons for so concluding. Counsel also filed a brief that provides
the case’s factual and procedural history and includes citations to the record.
Counsel provided a copy of the Anders petition and brief to Tate, and
advised him of his right to retain new counsel, or proceed pro se, and raise
any additional points he deems worthy of this Court’s attention.
Accordingly, we find counsel has met the requirements of Anders,

McClendon, and Santiago.
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Once counsel has satisfied the above requirements, this Court
conducts its own review of the proceedings and renders an independent
judgment as to whether the appeal is, in fact, wholly frivolous.
Commonwealth v. Wright, 846 A.2d 730, 736 (Pa. Super. 2004). On
appeal, Tate challenges the trial court’s decision to deny his motion to
suppress all evidence obtained subsequent to his arrest, claiming that the
police lacked reasonable suspicion, probable cause, or any other grounds to
detain, search, and arrest Tate. Accordingly, Tate argues that all evidence
obtained as a result of his arrest should have been suppressed.

After a thorough review of the record, the briefs of the parties, the
applicable law, and the well-reasoned opinion of the trial court, we conclude
that Tate’s challenge to the trial court’s denial of his suppression motion is
meritless. The trial court opinion comprehensively discusses and properly
disposes of the question presented. See Trial Court Opinion, 4/14//14, at
14-17 (finding "“[a]ln examination of the totality of the circumstances
surrounding this case reveals that there was an overwhelming amount of
indisputable evidence to support the trial court’s conclusion that the police
officers had probable cause to detain and arrest Tate.”).

As such, we rely upon the opinion authored by the Honorable Clyde W.
Waite in affirming the trial court’s order. We instruct the parties to attach a
copy of Judge Waite's decision in the event of further proceedings in the
matter. Additionally, because Tate’s appeal is, in fact, wholly frivolous, we

grant counsel’s petition to withdraw.

-6 -
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Judgment of sentence affirmed. Petition to withdraw as counsel

granted.

Judgment Entered.

Joseph D. Seletyn, Esq.
Prothonotary

Date: 9/26/2014
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF BUCKS COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

Co No. AM46 ot 201
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYL Y ANIA -

V.

LINDELL TATE

Appellant Lindell Tate (“Tate™) was arrested and charged on Crimvinal Information 3146~
2011 with one count each of Robbery - Threat of Immediate Serious Injury, 18 PaC.S. §
3701 Receiving Stolen Propecty, 18 Pa.C.8. § 3925(a); Firearms Not to be Carried
Without a License, 18 P.S, § 6106(a)(1); Possession of Weapon, 18 P.S. § 907(b); Recklessly
Endangering Another Person, 18 P8, § 2705; Theft by Unlawful Taking ~ Movable Property, 18
Pa.C.S. § 392H{a) and Persons Not (o Possess, Use. Manufacture, Control, Sell or Transfer
Fivearms. 18 P.S. § 6105(a)(1).

On Pebevary 11, 2011, Tate filed a Moiion for Line-up to which the Commonwealih filed
s response on March 18, 2001, Alter a hearing on May 3, 2011, the JHlonorable Jeffrey L. Finley
of this Court denied Tate’s request for a line-up.

On August 19, 2011, Tare Hled an Omnibus Pre-irial Motion seeking 1o suppress all
evidence obtained subseguent to his apprefiension by the police.

After a Suppression Hearing was held on Aegust 30, 2001, at which Taie initiaily made
and then withdrew 8 request for replacement of his pubfic defender due W “inrcconcilable

differences,” the Honorable Diape E. Gibbons of this Court concluded that the police clearly bad



Circulated 09/18/2014 04:00 PM

sufficient probable cause 10 arrest Tate inunedintely alier the robbery, and denied Tate's
Ommbus Pretrial Motion.

On September 27, 2011, Tawe filed pro se @ “Petition for writ of Habeas Corpus for §:3
Motion for dismissal of charges.”

On November 30, 2011, the Bucks County Public Defender’s Office filed a Petition for
Appointment of Privaic Counsef afier they became awire that Tate had filed a complaint against
them with the Disciphinary Boavd. On December 2, 2011, this Court granted that Petition and
appointed new defense counsel o represent Tate,

On December S, 2011, Tate again filed pro se the “Pelition for writ of Habeas Corpus for
5:3 ‘Motion for dismissal of charges,’ ™ and he also filed a “Motion in limine with Respect to
Money Seized From Defendant™ and a “Motion for Waiver/Modification of Pa.R.Crim.P. 576{4)
Relating o Defendanis Represented by Counsel of Record.™ These motions were returned to the
tile for consideration al time set for trial,

On March 6, 2012, this Court conducted a one-day stipulated waiver trial. Because Tute
hid nitially requested a trial by jury, we granted his pre-trig} Motion for Severance of Count 7
{Persons Not to Possess, Use, Manufactore, Control, Selt or Transfer Firearms), Next, after
aceepting incorporation of the records from Tate’s Preliminary snd Suppression Hearings, we
denied Tate's pre-trial motions including the Mution for Habeas Corpus Dismissal of Charges.
the Rufe 600 Motion 1o Dismiss. and the Motion w Suppress Defendant’s Statement to Detective
Nieves, Jate then withdrew his remaining Motien tn Limine 10 Exclude Monctary Pyidence
Seized, Upon retarning from a recess to allow counsel o review the ey questionmives. this
Count was informed tha Tate had consulied with bis counsel and “agreed to have this Cowrt hear

thiy case as a stipulsted waiver trial.” We then grauted the request to bear all seven Counts,



Circulated 09/18/2014 04:00 PM

mcluding Coung 7, at this waiver wial, and we incorporated the record from the Suppression
Hearing held before Judge Gibbons on Avugust 30, 2001, mto ihese taal proceedings. At the
conelusion of this tial we found Tate gailty upon all Counts.

On May 3, 2012, this Court sentenced Tate upon Cownt 1, Robbery - Phreat of hnmediste
Serivus Injuty, (© pay the costs of prosecution and uadergo imprisonment in a State Correctional
Facility for not less than seven und a half {7 %) nor more than sevenleen (17} years. On Count 4,
Possession of 2 Weapon, this Court vrdered Tate (o pay the costs of prosecation and undergo
imprisonment in a State Correctional Facility for not fess than one (1) nor move than wwo (2)
veats. The sentences were to be served concurrently. No further penalties were imposed upon the
reprrining Counts.

On May 7, 2012, Tate filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence,

On May 21, 2012, this Court issued an Order granting Tate's Motion for Appointment of
Appellate Counsel.

On September 18, 2012, this Court held a hearing on Tate's Motion for Reconsideration
of Semtence. At the conclusion of that hearing. we advised counsel that we would continue the
hearing in order lo permit counsel to tvestigate potentin} resalwtions to Tate™s request for
deferral of the costy imposed at sentencing in order 10 pursne educational opporhimities while
incarcerated,

On March 20, 2013, Tate submitied correspondence expressing his displeasure with his
appelhitte counsel.

On May 15, 2013, Taw filed pro se a Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Reliel,

On September 190, 2013, this Court issued an Order granting Tate’s request for the

appointment of new appellate counsel.

-
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On Scptember 19, 2013, Tae’s new appellate counse! filed a Motion for Transeripts, On
Seplember 30, 2013 this Court issued an Onder granting Tate's Motion for Production of
Franseripts and Other Related Documents,

On Qctober 13, 2013, Tate's new appellare counsel filed a Motion o Amend Defesndant’s
PCRA Petition,

On October 30, 2013, this Court issned an Order granting Tate’s Motion to Amend his
PURA Petition and reinstating his right 1o fife a direct appeal,

On December 2, 2013, Tate filed 4 Notice of Appeal to the Superior Cowt of
Penansylvania from this Court’s Order of May 3, 2012, imposing senience.

Ui December 3, 2003, this Cowt ordered Tate to file a Statement of Errors Complained
of on Appeal no later than twenty one (21) days from the date of the Qrder pursuant 10 Pa.R.ALP.
1925(b}.

On December 20, 2013, Tate filed a *Motion to Extend Time for Fi ling Statement Under
Pa.R.App.Pro. 1925(b)" because of the unavailability of the Notes of Testimony. By Orders
docketed on January 2, 2014 and January 15, 2014, this Count granted Tate’s request and
extended the time (o file his Statement of Errors Complained of on Appeal 10 February 2. 2014,

On Febroary 3. 2014, Tate filed anatber “Motion to Extend Time for Filing Statement
Under Pa.R.App.Pro, 1925(h)," again asserting that the Notes of Testimony had not yol been
prepared. On Pebruary 7. 2014, ihis Court denied Tate’s reguest w extend the time for filing the
Statement of Fvors.

On March 6. 2014, Tate fled & “Defendant’s Statcment Pursuant 1o Pa R App.Pro.
HO25{bL™ U that date Tate also filed a “Motion Pursuant to Pa.R App.Pro. 1926 1 Supplement

the Record™ which requested the incorporation of the copies he had attached of the uanscripts
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from the March 6, 2012 and May 3, 2012 hearings that he had received via e-mail {rom the Count
stonographer.

Cu March 13, 2013, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania issued an Order permitling Tate
“tiy file with the trial sourt and serve upon the tral judge a statement of errors compluined of on
appeal, pursuant to Pa.R.AL. 1925(h), within twenty-one (21) days of the date of that this Crder
is filed.” In addition, the trial judge was directed to “prepare an opinion, pursuant fo PR AD.
1925(4), in response to the Rule 1925(b) statement, within thitty (30) days of the date the
siatement is reccived.”

On March 14, 2014, this Coutt issued an Order granting Tate’s Motion to Supplement the
Record.

On March 17, 2014, 'latc submitted his “Defendant’s Statement Pursuant to
Pa.R.App.Pro. 1925(b) Submitted Pursuant to the March 11, 2014 Order of the Superior Court
Allowing the Defendant to Submit a Statement Pursuant to Pa.R.App.Pro. 1925(b)."

This Opinion is filed pursvant to P.R AP, 1925(a),

FACTUAIL BACKGROUND
Viewing the evidence in the lght most favorable fo the Commonwealth as verdiet
winner, the following findings of foct and conclusions of Taw were placed of record al the end of
the Suppression Hearing held betore Judge Gibbons on August 30, 2011, which as noed above

wits incorporated into the tial recond:

Officer Steven Bailev, as o police officer with the Benselem Township
Police Deparhment, on Janoary 29% of 2014, [ ] was on patrol on duty at
approximately 6:05 p.m. He was in unilorm, in a warked patrol vehicle. | | at 6:05
p.n. on Saturday he was dispatched to Street Road and Kingston Way for a
robbery of a 7-Eleven at that location. On route he wus advised further by
dispateh that the actor was running lowards or maning to the Dunkin’ Donuds
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which s lovated across the street on Street Road also in Bensaler Fowsship,
Bucks County,

He arrived at the Dunkin® Donuts Tocation twoe minutes after the orginal
dispateh. For the record, the vfficer fostifted that he was origivally dispatched at
6:08 and arrived at the Dunkin® Donuts at 6:07, The officer regponded ... in «
marked patro} vehicle with lights sad sivens.

Upon his arrival he spoke with a male subject who asked the officer
whether he was looking for a black male dressed in bluck. The offweer responded
that he did and he was told by the unidentilied male that that person was inside
the Dunkin® Doenuts. On route the officer had a description of the individund that
he was secking (or the 7-Eleven robbery and that was based on information he
received from Buceks County Police Radio. Bucks County Police radio indicated
that there was a black mafe. thin, approximately {ive-ten. wearing a dlack jacket,
black hooded sweat shirt and jeans, The jeans - the cofor of the jeans was not
specified.
... Dunkin® Donnts is a business thal [sces Street Romd. It has a glass
froni. The officer pulled in approximately 15 feet from the glass door front, was
able to see imto the Dunkin® Donuls and observed a bluck male matching the
description of the yerpetrator of the robbery of the 7-Eleven. There was only one
black male in the Dunkin’ Donuts at the time. That individual was walking back
towards the bathroom which is on the right side of the Dupkin® Donuts. The
officer had an unobstructed view as a resull of the glass front and there was
nothing else apparently obstructing his view,

The ofticer radioed to other police officers in the area indicating that he
was at the Dunkin® Donuts, ... Officer Bailey entered into the Bunkin' Donuts
and went back to the area of the bathroom. He was accompanied by two other
police officers from Bensalem Township Police Department, Those two officers
were also in full vniforn. The bathroom door lo the facility was closed. The
ofTicer asked the individual to come owt of the bathroom; the defendant did not
comme out of the bathroon. The door was opened by the police. The defeadant was
seen standing in the middle of the bathroom. Fe was asked to come out and show
his hands on three separate occasions. The defendant ignored the verbal
commands of the police officer. The two offfcers with Ofticer Bailey had their
guns drawn at this time. The defendant was then physically removed rom the
bathroom by the police and began to struggle with the officers, alter a short
struggle described as a 30-second strupgle with the three Bensalem Township
Police otficers. the was delained, he was put on the Hoor and was handenffed. He
was then removed Frony the Dunkin® Donats.

Prior to hig heing removed and while he was stddn the Dunkon’ Donots
on the floor handeufled. one of the ofiicers. Dificer Jackson. went into the
buthroom and advised Officer Bailey that be had observed a black nine-mithmeter
Tauras handgun in the trash can localed in the batbreom inside the Dunkin’
Donuts,

Al the time the defendant was itially observed inside the Dunkin’
Danuts he matched the deseriptimm specifically he had on a hlack leather jacket, 2
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black hoodie underneath the jacket, and was observed with money in his front
pants pocketl,

Afier being removed from the bathroom there was a pat-down search for
weapons and nothing was found on the defendant’s person in terms of ... a
weapon.
The defendant was ultimately taken oot ot the store and placed in the
police car. He was ultimately scarched and was found to be in possession of $613,
some was i his pants pockel, some was m his jackel. The money that was
retrieved  from the ... defendunt was wrapped  in money  wroppers by
dencmination.

A 7-Eleven siore employee was brought to the Dunkin® Donuts parking lot
by Rensalem Township Police, that clerk identified the defendant as the
individual who had committed the burglary at the 7-Eleven on the evening of
January 29, 2071, The defendant was ultimately transported w0 police
headquarters.

Approximately 15 to 20 or 2§ to 25 minutes after the original dispatch
call, Detective David Nieves respomded to the location of the Dunkin® Donuts and
began ... an investigation of the 7-Fleven robbery, He was told upon arrival at the
scene that one of the ather ofticers, specifically Ofticer Jackson, hud seen a gun in
a trash can inside the bathroom. Detective Nieves recovered that fiream, 1t was,
i fact, a nhe-millimeter Tanrus semi-automatic handgun, It was Joaded with live
rounds, There were nine in the magaezine, The handgim was photographed and
was ultimately fested and delemtined 10 be wperable as part of the police
investigation,

Detective Nieves also ok into his possession $615 which was the cash
that was on the defendant’s person and he also ook into possession a $20 bill
from the clerk of the Duokin® Donuts where the defendant bad purchased a cup od
collee. The money that was taken off the defendint’s person — all of the toney
taken off the defendant’s person was identified by the 7-Eleven personnel as
money that was taken from the 7-Eloven robbery immediately prior to the
defendant’s detention.

After Detective Nieves left the Dunkin’ Donuis, after he concluded his
investigation police work there. he went to 7-Fleven to advisc either slore
personned or police personnel that he was going lo require surveillance tapes and
ultimately returned to headquarnters where he spoke to the defendant.

The inferview with the defendant oveurred in the conterence romn library
arca of the police departiment. The interview occurred at a table which was
described as etght-toor-by- L-foot, The delendant was brought into that location
from the hooking area of Bensalem Township Police Department, The interview
hegau shortly before § o’eleck. Detective Nioves nowed of the dme of the
inferview that the defendant was wearing the dark clothes that had been described
by police dispatch.

An itlerview was witimately conducted. Detective Nieves testified and |
find s ot that he read the Miranda Warnings from the Miranda card that’s
provided 10 officers in Beusalem Township Police Department. that he read those
rights fo the defendant, that the defandant indicated he was willing fo speak to the
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police officer or o the detective without an attorney being present, The vard was
then provided to the defendant to review and the defendant was asked fo sign that
card. The Miranda card murked as CS-2 aud made part of this record containg the
responses of the defendant that he onderstond bis rights and that be was willing to
speak to the police without an attormey being present and it containg the mitials of
the defendani.

Initially the defendant indicated that another individual by the mame of
Mark was the individual who commitfed the critnes in guestion, bui wltimately
aller police questioned the defendant, {he] noted that be was, in facy, the
individaal who engaged in the robbery of the 7-Fleven oa January 29™, 2011,

I would note that the - and find as fee{ that the robbery thal vecwyed at the
7-Eleven was reported to police radio, specifically 9-1-1, by an employee of the
7-Eleven, that at the time the emplovee wus on the phone and provided specific
information as to what bad ocevrred at the 7-Eleven, butl that information was also
suppemented by another individual who was placed on the welephone with 9-1-1,
that individual was the person who entered the 7-Eleven as the defendant was
leaving the 7-Fleven following the robbery. Together the information provided by
those two individuals cleatly established that the fndividual who had committed
the robbery was a black male, that he was thin, approximately five-foot-ten. bluck
jacket, [black] hooded sweat shirt and jeans. There was also tnformation provided
by the store clerk, the witness at the 7-Eleven, that was employed by 7-Fleven,
that the detendant was in possession of s handgun, There are two separate
responses fo that same question and in one responsc the einployee said there was a
handgum and in another response it appears he said there was not a handgun, so at
that point thete was some confusion as to whether or not the defendant was

armed.
PR ¥

The basis of the motion here was that the defendant was under arrest at the
tfime ... that he was removed from the bathroom at the Dunkin® Donuts and thas,
therefore. that the arrest was not sapported by probable caose and. therefore, all of
the evidence that was seized {roin the delendant, including money from the
defendant’s pocket, or any other cvidence that was taken trom him, or the
statement that was taken from him by Detoctive Nieves, that all of that would be
fiuit of the Rlegal arrest and should he suppressed. ...

The Commonwealth has argued that this is an mvestigatory detention. The
defense hos argued there was an arrest, 1 find that under either case, whether or
not you cousider it wn investigatory detention, where the police would be required
to have articuluble facts that eriminal activity was oceurring, or whether or not it
was an areest where the police wourld be reguired w0 have probable cause, in this
case 1 find that .. the police did hove specific articulable facis to support an
investigatory detention and | find the police did have probable cause to arrest the
defendant.

This is probably about the strongest case of probable cavse that I've seen

g winle, ..
23
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Su, i any eveny, whether it was nn arrest or whether ¥ was an
thvestigatory defevtion, the police clearly have sufficient information to act the

way that ey did and acted appropriately, so based on that | find that e Motion

for Suppression is not warranted and the Motion is denied,

NT. August 30, 3011, pp. 71-84,

At Tale’s stipulated waiver trial. held on Murck 6, 2012, the {ollowing evidenee, lindings
af fuet and vurdict were placed of record:

Initially, this Court addressed Tote’s pre-trial Motion fo Suppress the Statements made to
Detective Nicves on January 29, 2011, the date of his detention. According to Tate, his
staternents shoold have been suppressed because he did not knowingly, infelligendy or
voluntarily waive his Miranda rights due to his alleged state of intoxication that resnited from
smoking “dust” earlier in the day.

Tate, testitying oo his owu behalf, recalled meeting Detective Nieves on January 29,
2011, He did not recall whether he was given the Miranda card to sign before or afler speaking
with Detective Nieves, but did acknowledge reading wnd indicating that be understood the
contents of that card, Tate stated thal he was “pretty high™ at that time because be had smoked
“dust’” carlier in the day, around 3:00 or 4:00 p.m,, and “the dust high lasts for fike three or {four
hours.™ N.T. March 6. 2012, pp. 33-36.

Upon ecross-examintion, Tate admilted that he recognized the vellow Miranda card with
his signature. date (172941 1), and tme (7:50 p.m.). He acknowledied that he had been alone with
Detective Nisves. who was dressed in plain clothes, in the police siation conference roem. lle
admitted that Detevtive Nieves had asked him guestions tn an wibreatening manaer and did not
yell or act aggressive, and he acknowledged providing Detective Nieves with infrmation

incliding his address, fefephone numbers, social sceunty number and educational back grouned.

NUT Masch 6, 2012, pp, 37-62,

g
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Tate stated that be “smokels] a lot of dust,” und explained that “dust.”™ also referred to as
"wet, is “mint leaves dipped in embabning fhaid, and it's cur with ... jet fuel. Bz worse than ..
angel dust.” He recalled smoking dust with his friend, Nick, at Nick’s house in Mhiladelphia, and
then driving in & truek with Nick and two girls to the Parx Casine on Street Road, Tate stated that
he does not gamble but recalled having more than $20 and less than $100 i his pocket that
night. Tate said he did not reeall gofug into the 7-Fleven or Dunkin’ Donws shops across the
street, NJT, March 6, 2012, pp. 62-69.

Detective Nieves testified that upon meeting with Tate, he first advised him of his
Miranda rights. Deteclive Nieves read each right to Tate verbatim froms the Miranda card, and
after Tate acknowledged his understanding, Deteetive Nieves marked that ilern on the card with
8 "Y" to indicate “yes.” Tute then reviewed and signed the card acknowledging his consent to the
responses indicated on the card. After that, Detective Nieves interviewed Tate, and st the
conclusion of the interview he asked Tate if he wanted to provide his awn wriiten statcment
which Tale declined (o do. He said Tate appeared normal, coherent and understanding during the
interview, N.T. March 6, 2012, pp. 71-79.

At the conclusion of this testimony. we denied Tate's Matien to Suppress and placed owr
reasons of record:

With respect to the Mirande warnings and motion that was {iled in
connection therewith, | find that on January 29, 2011, during the evening hours
subscguent to a dispateh that was issucd in response to a report ol a robbery at the
7-Eleven in Bensalem Township, Detcetive Nieves came hto contagt with the
defendant at the Bensalem Township Police Depanment. Detective Nieves was
dressed in civilian clothes, wet with the defendant in a conterence room with only
the defendant and the detective present at the tne,

The detective discussed general matiers  with  the defendant. The
discussions were nontbreatening and popaggressive and were conducied in
nerinal  conversativnal toneys. The detective did not observe any signs of

incolierence, confusion. or wnything that wouid kead the detective (o believe that
the defendant was either under the influence of drugs or is any other way unable

1)
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1 comprehend the discussions. There was au exchange of information reparding
gencral topies of name, address, sovial secwrity nwmbers and other specific
general information tist was not related o the offense. The detective did not mise
any question regarding the offense untit the yellow Miranda waming vard was
reqd to the defeadont.

The detective asked ¢f the detendant understond each paragraph and, upon
receiving an affirmative response, checked off the parsgraph by writing the letier
Y™ for yes that the defendant undersiood that paragraph. Each of the paragraphs
on the yellow Mirands card were marked with the letter ©Y" after the detective
cead cach paragraph to the defendaat.

The defendant was also given the opporfunity to read the card, and the
detective observed the defendam appearing fo read the card and. when asked, the
defendant signed the card evidencing his understanding of the contenty therein.

The defendant assetts that he was smoking a drug called dust starting a
3:00 to 4:00 p.m. that afiermoon. He also stated that he smokes dust on a very
regular basis, He asserts that he was under the influence of dust at the time that
the interview took place. However, the defendam was able to testify in court
today about detailed information, about his whereabouts on that day subsequent 1o
3:00 to 4:00 in the atternoon or subsequent to the time that the defendani asserts
he had smoked the drogs,

The defendant was able (o testity about his itinerary for the evening in
deail and to testify about the detaifs of the inlerview that was conducted by the
detective.

[ is the finding of the Court that the defendunt undersiood the warnings
that were piven to him by the detective, volutitarily signed the card evidencing
his understanding, and the Court finds that all statements that rclated lo the
offense were obtained subsequent to the reading and appropriate presentation of
the contents of the card to the defendant.

I find the detective’s testimony to be credible and find that there was 1o

coercion that was wilized to cause the defendont 1o sign the Miranda card, and for
those reasons, conclude that the defendant’s motion to suppress the statements
given to the Miranda warnings are unfounded and the maotion is denied.

N T, March 6. 2012, pp. 98-101.

Next, a celloguy was conducted with Tate. in accordance with Pa.R.Crim Proc. Ruale 620,
which ascartained that he understood the essential ingredients of & jury trinl and that his waiver
of a jury triad was knowing and intefligent. N T, March 6, 2012, pp, HG-120,

The Commonwealth and defense counsel then stipulated to the incorporation wi the

record feomn the Suppression Hearing held hefore Judge Gibbons on August 30, 2011, and the
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Commeonweahth placed of record the evidence it would have presented i 2 trinl by jury had been

held, NJT. March 6. 2012, pp. 1214143,

Afier the Commonwealth rested, this Court entertained argument, including that of both
Tate and bis defense counsel, and then we entered the following findings of {act uad verdier:

On January 29, 2001, at shout 6:00 p.m,, an individual eptered the 7-
Eleven store at Streef Road and Windsor Sueet and brandished a bluck handgun
pointing it at tho store clerk; one, Badr Toughzaoui. The individuwal demanded
money which was handed over by the clerk. The clerk handed over $254 that was
banded in o packet and wrapper. He also handed over 550 that was banded in 2
wrapper and some Joose curreney, the total amount of which was $633.

The elerk was also ditected to hand over cigarettes which were placed ina
plastic bag and handed to the individual,

The individaal who entered the store was wearng a black leather jacket
with a black kait cap and a black or dark hoodie sweatshirt and, puossibly, other
layers of clothing. The clerk, after handing over the items, and the individual
having left the 7-Eleven store, then called 911 giving a desceiption of the person
as has already been noted. There was a sccond phone call by another coployee in
the store, 4 Mr. or Mrs. Patel. This 911 call resulted in a dispatch to the Bensalem
Township Police, and that dispatch was received by an Officer Steven Bailey who
was in cloge proximily w the 7-Lleven, Officer Bailey received that call at
approximately 6:04 p.u.

The caller from the 7-Eleven indicated that they believed the individuad
had run across Street Road to o Dunkin’ Donuts store, Officer Buifey responded
within minutes to that store and was able to observe a black male dressed as noled
it the 971 call.

The officer awaited the arvival of three other oificers, Officer Gregory
Jackson, Joseph Gansky., and Alan Wolfinger. All tour proceeded into the
Punkin® Donuts and went to (he aren where ... Officer Bailey observed the
individual who retreated 10 the rear of the Dunkin® Donuts to the arca of the
bathroom. The officers ordercd the individual in the bathreom 1o cxit, lhe
individual failed 10 do so. and afier several attempty to have the person exil. one
of the officers opened the door and found the defendant standing in the four-by-
four bathroom, and the defendant continued to refuse to exit. The officers enlered
the hathroom, A struggle ensued and the defendant was suecessfully removed
frem the batbroom. The amesting officer. Officer Bailey, noticed cwrrency in the
defendant’s pocker. The amoum of Junds was $613. The defeadant as identified
by the store clerk in Dunkin’ Donuts had purchased a cup of eod¥ee for 320, The
L20 was retrieved and the total amonnt that was conliscated by the police officer
was $635. which was the exact amount that the 7-Bleven clerk indicated was
taken from the store,

Those Quuds were retwmed by the officer.

—
it
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The offivers digcovered a 9 millimeter black handgun in the wasie basket
tn the batlrooin,

The cletk from the 7-Eleven was brought over to the Dunkin’ Donuts and
identified the defendant to the extent that identitication could be made by
clothing: afthough, the clerk would rot have been able to identify - fully identiy
the facial features of the defendant,

The gun that was retrieved was swabbed for DNA testing. The defondant
provided 2 DNA sample. Testing was done and o mutch was achicved. The
defendant gave 4 statement to the police officer following his having been given
his Miranda warnings and adimivted his involvement in the rohbery.

The store clerk at the 7-Eleven was placed in fear of death or serious
bodily injury by virtue of the handgun being pointest directly av the clerk at the
titne of the demand for the funds and cigarettes.

The defendant has been convicted of three prior offenses for possession
with intent (o deliver o controlled substance,

Base on those facts as found, the Commonwealth has proven heyond a
reasonable doubt that a thel) had occurred and that thef was of currency and
cigarettes. And, in the course of committing the theft, the defendam threatened the
store clerk with ~ threatening to shoot the clerk -- and that satistics the elements of
robbery under 18 Pa.C.8.A. § 3701 (a){1)(ii). Those facts also prove all the
clements of receiving stolen property under the Crimes Code al Section 3925(a).

‘The facts as found also satisfies all of the clements of the offense of
fircarms not to be carried without a ficense. And I should state that the
Conuvnonwealth has proven that the defendant did not have a license {o cary o
fivearm by virtue of the statemaent and certification from the Pennsylvaunia State
Police.

Furthermore, the elements of possession of a weapon under the Crimes
Code af Section 907(b), the elements of that offense have been proven beyond a
reasonable doubt. recklessly endangering another person under the Crimes Code
2705 by virtue of engagement in reckless conduct placing another in danger of
fear or serious bodily injury have been made vut along with thefl by unlawlul
taking under ... Scetion 392 {(a) of the Crimes Cade; also, possession of a wetgpon
by a person who had previousty been convicted of a crime.

Under Section 6)05(u) 1), the clements of all of the counts in the
information have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and, thercfore, the
defendant is found guilty of all soven cownts on the Information,

NI, Mareh 6, 2012, pp, 136-162.

Sentencing was deferred o May 3, MH20 at whieh time. as noted above, this Coust
sentenced Tate apor Coum 1, Robbery, W pay the costs of prosecuiion and undergo
jiprisonment in a State Correctional Facility for not fess than seven aud & half {7 ) nor more

than seventeen {171 years, and we sentenced Tate upon Count 4, Possession of & Weapon, o
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underge imprisomment in a State Comectionsl Facitity Tor @ concurrent period of not fess than

one {1} gor mote than fwo (2) veurs, No Tarther penaifies were imposed upon the remaining

Counts.

As previousty noted, parswant to this Couet’s Order of December 3, 2013, Tate's courl-
appeinted appellate counsel Bled a “Pefendant’s Staement Pursuant 1o Pa.R App Fro. 1923(b)"
on March 6, 2014, He subsequently replaced that with the “Defendan(’s Statement Porsuait to
Pa.R.App.Pro, 1925(b) Submitted Pursuant {o the March {1, 2084 Order of the Superior Court

Allowing the Defendant {o Submit a Statement Pursuant 10 PaR.App.Pro. 1925(b),” which he

filed on March 17, 2014,
fn his latest “Statement Pursuant to Pa.R.App.Pro. 1923(h),” Tate argues verbatim that:

I. The Defendant is entitied to a new trial because there was aeither reasonable
suspicion, probable cause nor any other grounds to detain, seareh, and nrrest the
Defendant on January 29, 2011 because the description of the perpetrator given to the
police who arrested him was not sufficient to alfow then [sic] to accost or otherwise
detain him, and thus his arrest, the scizure of evidence from him, and the use of other
evidence obtained from exploitation of his arrest. including DNA evidence violated the
Defendant’s righis uider U.S, Const, Amend. 1V and X1V and Pa. Const. Art. 1, § 8.

2. The defendant is entitled to a new trial under 1S, Const, Amend V. V] and X1V
and Pa. Const. Arl, 1. §9, because his waiver of his rights o remain silent was not
volontary due to reduced mental capacity tesulting from his ingestion of intoxicating
subslances prior to his arrest.

3. The evidence was insoilicient w convict the Defendant of the charges against him
hecayse the [sic) neither the Defendant nor the physical evidence presented against tum at
triad sufticiently tied him to description of the person who cammitted the crime,

efendant’s Statement, Mirch 17, 2014,
INISCUSSION

in hix first challenge to his conviction, Tate claims that his agest was unconstitutional

hecause There was “neither reasonable suspicion, probable canse nor any other grounds o detain,

-
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search, and ayest |him] on Jamnary 29, 201" As a resull, Tate argues that alf evidence obtained
as a result of his arrest should bave been suppressed.
The Superior Courl of Pennsyivania hos consistently recogmized fhat:

{plrobable vause exists where an ofticer is preseated with facts und circumstances
which are sufficient to warrant @ pradent individual in befieving that an offense
was commitied and that defendant committed W, Commonwealth v. Dennis, 417
Pa.Super. 425, 612 A.2d 1014 (1992), In determining whether probable cause
existed in a particolar situation, “a court will not leok just at one or two individual
factots, but will consider the *tolality ol the circumstancey’ as they appeared 1o the
arresting officer.” I, We also focus on the circumstances as seen through the eyes
of a trained officer, taking into consideration that probable cause does nut involve
certainties, but rather “the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on
which reasonable and pradent men act.” Id. (quoling Commmomyeadth v. Sinnmons,
295 Pa.Super, 72, 440 A.2d 1228 (1982)): see alvo Interest of JH., 424 Pa.Super,
224, 622 A.2d 351 (1993). Finally, our Cowrts have repeatedly emphasized that
deferminations of probable cause must be based on a common-sense non-
technical analysis, Jd

In interest of DLW, 629 A2d 1387, 1388 (Pa.Super, 1993).
Int i subsequent reaffirmation of this position, the Superior Court reiteraled that:

. we note that “{iln this Commonwealth, the standard for cvalvating whether
probable cause exists is the ‘totality of the circumstances’ test set {orh in Minois
v. Grares, 462 11.S. 213, 103 S.Ct, 2317, 76 {..Ed.2d 527 (1983).” Commoanwealih
v, Rodriguez, 526 Pa. 268, 272, 585 A.2d 988, 990 (1991). “Probable cause exists
when the facts and circumstances within the officers’ knowledge are sufticient to
warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belie! that an offense has been or is
being conunitted.” Commomvealth v Gibson. 536 Pa. 123, 130, 638 A.2d 203,
206 (1994}, “*lt is only the probability, and not a prime facie showing, of ¢riminal
activity that is the standard of probable cause tor a warrantless atrest.”
Commomweatth v, Quiles, 422 PaSuper. 153, 167, 619 A2d 291, 298 (1993) (en
banc).

Commemeeolth v Brife, 691 A.2d 494, 497 (Pa.Super. 19975,
An examination of the tolity of the circumstanees surroundiiz fhis case reveats thay
there was an overwhelming amount ol indisputable evidence jo support the conclosion that the

pulice officess clearly had probable cause W detain and arrest Tate, and this clainy is meritless.
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The factual findiogs as placed of record revealed that the witnesses at the 7-Eleven store
reselutely and consistemly described the defendant’s physical appearance and the type and color
of the apparel he was wearing, including the dark-velored hooded gweut shirt and knit cap, us
well as the direction the defendant travetled after commiting the robbery. The witnesses placed
and immediate emergency call to 9-1-1, and Officer Bailey of the Bensalem Tewnship Police
Departrient responded within minutes to the location of the Dunkin® Donuts store where the
defendant was seen headed. Officer Bailey and the two other respounding police ofticers observed
that the defendant was the only black male in the Dunkin’ Donuts store and that he matched the
physical description provided by the dispateh call and was wearing the apparel described by the
witnesses at the 7-Eleven.

The officers’ suspicions were undoubtedly heightened when the defendant refused to
comply with their request to exit the bathroom in the Dunkin® Donuts store, and instead chose fo
engage in a physical struggle with the officers in an attempl o eseape. This conduct could
reasonably be considered by the officets as a congciousness of guilt and lead thew to conclude
that {he defendant was the perpetrator of the robbery. See Commamvedith v. Brice, 717 A2d
(033, 1037-1038 (Pa.Super. 1998) (“when a person commits a crime, knows that he i$ a suspect
and conceals himself, { } such conduct is evidence of conscivusness of guiit, which may form the
buasis. along with other proot, from which guilt may be inferred).

In addition, while the defendant wag being detdined, he was observed to be tn possession
i the exact amount of currcney taken from the 7-Eleven store. and a handgun was retrieved
from the bathroom wastebasket which was later contirmed 1o be in the defendant’s possession,

While Taic had attempied 1o argue at his trial that the description of the perpetrator was

insufticient fo provide probable cause for the police officers to arvest him becanse his face had
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been concealed by the hooded sweat shirr und knit cap pidled down to his eyes, this Court had no
difficulty in concloding from a veview of the tolafity of the circumstances surrounding the
commission of the crimes at the 7-Eloven store on Javuary 29, 2011, that the police otheess did
have probable cause fo arrest him. Consequently, the evidence obfained as a result of bis
detention should not be suppressed and Tale's assertion of error has no ment.

Tale next claims that his waiver ol his rights to reroain silent before speaking \with
Delective Nieves was not voluntary due to reduced menlal capacity resulting from his ingestion
of intoxicating substances, Aceording to Tate, at the time of his interview with Detective Nieves
at the Bensalem Towaship Police Department conference room, he was “pretty high” from
“smoking dust” apgproximately four hours earlier.

b Commonwealth y. Manning, 435 A.2d 1207, 1209 - 1210 (Pa. 1981), the Supreme
Court of Pennsylvania addressed an appellant’s similar argument that “the trial court erred in
refusing to suppress incriminating statements made to the state police shortly aftor his arrest on
the grounds that he was incapable of knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waiving his
Miranda [FN3} rights.” The Court noted that:

Appeliant maintains that the ingestion of a large quantity of drugs prior (o the

shootings so mentally and physicaily debilitated hin that he was unable o effect a

valid waiver of his constitutional rights. We do not agree,

FNY. Miranda v, Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct 1602, 16 1L.Ed.2d 694
{19663

‘Imtoxication i a factor to be considered, hat it is not sutlicient, in and of
itselt 1o render the confession involuntary.” Convmomeealth v, Jones, 437 Pa.
423, 432-33. 322 A2d LEY, 125 (1974) The test s whether there was
snfficiont mental capacity for the defendant to kaow what he was saying and
1o have voluntarily intended 1o say it. Commomwealth v, Smith, 437 Pa. 457,
J60, 207 A2d 102, 105 (1972). We helieve this standard is equally applicable
to those instances where an accused was allegedly under the influence of
drugs or parcotics al the time of his inferrogation by police officialy.

47
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Commonweadth v. Culherson, 467 Pa. 424, 42728, 358 A4 416, 417 (1976).

Muoreover, it is well-cstablished that
‘(Dhe burden to peave a valid waiver by a preponderance of the cvidence i
apon the Commonwealth ... and onr responsibility upon review is to detenmine
whether the record supports the factual findings of the court below and the
legitimuey of the inferences and lepal conclosions drawn from those
findings.... [n making this determination, we are (v consider only the evidence
of the prosecution’s wilnesses and so much of the evidenve for the detense as,
fairly read in the context of the record as a whole, remains uncondradicted.”

Commonwealth v. Firth, 479 Pa. 333, 337, 388 A2 683, 683 (1978) (qworing
Commonwealth v, Goodwin, 460 Pa, §16. 522-23, 333 A.2d 892, 893 (1975}

{citations omitted)).
Manning, 435 A2dat 1209 -- 1210,

The Manning Court observed that “[a) careful review of the suppression record teveals
that while appellant appeared disheveled and emotionally upsel during the interrogation, there is
evidence that he was not so intoxicated by drugs or alcohol as to not understand and voluntarity
watve fiis Miranda rights.” The Coud further observed that the police officers “who took
appellant into custody teslified that appellant was alerl, coherent, responsive to questions and did
not appear to be under the influence of drugs or alfcohol.” The Manning Court therefore
concluded that “appelant had suflicient reental capacily to volmmarily waive his right fo remain
silent” and “the lower court did uot err in refusing lo suppress appellant’s statements.” /d,

In the instant matter, there was no indication o any of the police officers involved that
Tate was under the influence of drugs or frcotic substances. Petective Nieves testified that Tate
“appeared normai” and “seemed coherent fand] understanding™ during the imterview, and he had
no difficnlty in communicating with him, We also observed that while Tafe fewified tha he
smoked “dust” approximately four hours prior to the interview, which woudd suggesi a sufficient
amount o time had elapsed for astepuation of the effects of the “dust,” Tate nonctheless was able

to provide and recite with particular specificity information regarding his personal identification.

18
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This information included knowledpe of his bivthdate, address, multiple telephone numbers,
social security number und educationat history. In addition, alter reviewing the Miranda card
with his indicated responses to ench iterm. Tite was colerent enough fo affix his signatute
acknowledging his vonsent to those indicated responses, and he was sufficienfly aware of his
situation o refuse to provide any writien statement o the police upon the conclusion of his
intervies.

Because the evidenee presenied at Tate's Suppression Hearing and wial revealed that he
did not appear (o be under the influence of drugs and was alert. coherent. and responsive 1o
questions at (he time ol his detention and sebsequent interview, this Court easily concluded that
Tate “had suificient mental capacity to voluntarily waive his right to remain silent.” Tate’s claim
in this instance also has no merit.

In his last challenge, Tate broadly clais that the evidence was insullicient to conviet
him of the charges. This claim is apparently predicated upon his insistence that the physical
description of the perpetrator of the 7-Eleven robbery furnished by the witnesses at the 7-Eleven
store did not exactly match his physical appearance or the clothes he was wearing, and therefore,
he could not be the perpetrator, This claim is essentially a rcformulation of his first claim in
which he argued that the police officers did not have probable cause for his arrest “because the
description of the perpetralor given to the police who arrested him was not suflicient (o allow
then to accost or otherwise detain him™

in responding to a claim alfleging insufficioncy of the evidence, the Superior Cour of
Pennsylvania bas consistently stated that

The standard we apply in reviewing the sulliciency of the evidence 1s wheiher

viewing all the evidence admitted at wial in the hight most favorable to the verdict

winner, there is sufficient evidence to enable the fact-linder 1o find every element
of the erime beyoud @ reasonable doubt, In applying the above test. we way not
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weigh the evidence and substitute our judgment for the fact-tinder, In addition, we

ncte that the facts and circumsiances gstablished by the Comumonwealth necd not

preclude every possibility of innocence, Any doubts reparding a Jefendant's guill

may be resolved by the lact-linder onless the evidewce is so wesk amd

inconclusive that as a matter of law o probability of fact may be drawn from the

combined circwmstances, The Commonwealth may sustain its burden of proving

every elemeut of the crime beyond o reasonable doubt by means of wholly

circumstantial evidence, Moreover, in applying the above test, the entire tecord

must be evaluated and all evidence actually réceived must be considered. Tinally,

the teier ol fact while passing upon the oredibility of witnesses and the weight of

the evidence produced, {s free to believe all, patt or none of the evidence,

Conmomeealth v, Knox, SO A3d 749, 754 (Pa.Supey, 2012) (citing Commomwendth v. Brown, 23
A3 544, 859-60 (Pa.Super 201 1) (en bune ).

In the case sub judice, we observed that during the closing arguments of his trial, Tate
seized upon specific portions of the witnesses® testimony from his pretiminary hearing to aftempt
to cast doubt upon the overwhehning cvidence thal ultimately resuifed in his conviclion.
According to Tate, inconsistencies in the information provided at the preliminary hearing by the
withesses concerning his physical identification and their inahitity to idenmtify him due to his
concenled face at the time of the robbery provided the necessary substantive evidence proving
that he was not the actual perpetrator.

We are cognizant, however, and Tate conveniently neglects o acknowledge. that a
fanuuage barrier putentially existed at the time of the robbery for the 7-Eleven store employees,
Badr Toughzaoui and the Patels, which would sccount for any alleged discrepaccy in their
testimmony, Tate’s arguoment also docs nothing to dispel the {act that he was positively iden(ified
by the store clerk akter Tate was apprehended by the police, and he fals o ackuowledpe that his
puiit may aiso e proven wholly by clreunsstantisl evidence. See Commonwealih v, Chambers,

509 8.2d 630, 635 {Pa. 1992} {Ucircumnstantial evidence is suiljcient 10 sustain a conviction so

long as the combination of the evidence links the accused to the crime beyond a reasonable

20
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doubt™ and that circumstuntial evidence “van be as reliable and persuasive as eyewimess
testimouy and muy be of sufficient quantity and guality to establish guilt beyond a reasonable
dothit™)

Such circumstantial evidence in this ease ineluded the descriptions provided by the 7-
Fleven store elerks o the cimergeney cull dispatel operator that the perpelrator was a black tale
wearing a datk-colored kuit cap and o hooded sweat shint under a black leather jucket ar the time
of the robbery, and the police observations that ate was wearing a black leather jacket, a datk-
colored houded sweat shirt and a knit cap when he was apprehended. Tn addition, Tate was
indisputably in possession of the exact amount of money taken from the 7-Eleven store during
the robbery. and the handgun retrieved from the wastebasket in the bathroom where Tate was
apprehended was determined to contain his DNA,

As we noted at the conclusion of his trial, Tate’s argument that he conld not be convicted
of the charges due to the store clerk’s inability to specifically identify his face or physical
features because he wore a mask leads 1o the unreasopable conclusion that anyone who wore a
mask while commitiing a erime would be prohibited from ever being convicted of that ¢crime.

Based upon the totality of the circumstanees, the credibility of the witnesses and the
cvidence presented at Tate's Suppression Hearing and waiver wrial. this Court was convinced
heyond a reasomable doubt that Tate was indeed the perpetrator of the robbery and the associated
crimes that veenrred at the 7-Eleven store on the evening ol January 29, 2011

Forthermore, haviag rejected Tate's argument that the witnesses” inability to speciticalls
identify him suggests that he iy innsocent, we are satisfied that the Commonwealth has sustained
its burden of proving heyond a reasonable doubt every other element of the crimes with which he

was charged.
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The specifie charges for which Tute was tried are defined as follows:

§ 3701, Robhery

{ay Otfense defined. —

(1) A person is malty of robbery if, in the course of commiiting a thefi. he:

(i} threatens another with or intentionally puis bim in fear of immediate serious bodily
injury;

18 Pa.C.S.A. § 3701 (a)(1)ib).

§ 3925, Receiving stolen praperty

{a) Offense defined.~A person is guilty of theft if he intentionally receives, reting, or
disposes of movable property of anather knowing that it has heen stolen, or believing that
it has probably been stolen, unless the property is received, retajned, or disposed with
intent Lo restore it to the awner.

18 Pa.C.S.A. § 3925a)

§ 2705, Recklessly endangering another person

A person commils a misdemennor of the second degree if he recklessly engages in
conduet which places or may place another person in danger of death or serious bodily

injury.

18 Pa.C.S.A. § 2705,

§ 3921. Theft by unlawful taking or disposition

{(a) Movabte properiy.—-A person is puilty of theft if he unlawiully takes, or exercises
urdawlul contro} over. movable property ol another with infent to deprive him thereof,

18 Pa.C.8 AL § 3921,
§ 6106, Firearms not to he earried withouf a liceose
()} Offense defined. -

(1) Exeept as pravided in paragraph (2), any persan who carries a fivearm in any vehicie
ar any person who carvies a firearm copcentud on or aboud his person, except in bis place
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of abode or fixed place of business, without a valid and fawiully issued license under this
chapter commits a felony of the third degree.

18 Pa,C.5.A. § 6106(a)(1).

§ 907, Possessing instrunients of erime

(b} Possession of weapon--A person commits 8 misdemennor of the first degree if he
possesses a fircarm or other weapon coneealed upon his persen with intent to emiploy it

criminally.

18 Pa.C.S.A. § 907(b).

§ 6165. Persons not to posyess, use, manufacture, confrol, sell ar transfer fircarms

{(a) Offense defined.~-

(1) A person who has heen convicted of an offonse enumerated in subscetion (b), within
or without this Commonwealth, regardiess of the lenpth of senlence or whose conduct
meets the crileria in subsection (¢ shall not possess, use, control, sell, transter or
manufacture or obtain a license to possess, use, control, sell, transfer or manutacture a

firearm tn this Commonwealth.

18 Pa.C.8.A. § 6105¢a)1).

As noted at the end of the trial, this Courtt determined that the Commonweaith had proven
beyond a reasonable doubt that a thell of currency and cigareties from the 7-Eleven store had
aceurred. that in the course of committing that thell, Tate had threaicned to shoot the store clerk
by displaying a handgun, and that the handgun that had heen retrieved from the Dunkin® Donuts’
batheoom had heen in Tate’s possession. Those elements satisfied the statutory delinition of
Rohbery, Receiving Stolen Property, Theft by Unfawful Taking, Recklossly bundangering
Another Person, and Possession of an instrument of Crime. The Commonwealth also presenied
unconiested evidence, by virtue of certifted Peonsy bvania State Police records, that revealed late

did nol possess a license 1o carry 8 bandgun, and that bis previous criminal convictions
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prohibited him {rom owning or pussessing a Beerrm, thus satislfying the reqdrements necessary
W find Tale guilty of the sharpes of Firearms Not to be carried Withoul 4 License and Persons
Not to Possess Firearms. As a result of these defenminations, it was clear that there was suflicient
evidence to conviet Tate upon each of the charpes and we find Tate™s lfast chaﬂenge to hig

conviction and seutence 10 also be meritlesy,

CONCLUSION

For the torepoing reasony, we recommend that this appenl be denied.

BY THE COURT:

il

DATE: (
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